1979

Margaret Fletcher v. William I. Fletcher : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This arises out of a divorce decree as to the property division, the separation of the children and their custody and visitation rights ordered therein.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the court which granted the divorce to the Appellee. A property settlement was made. Appellee was granted custody of the three younger children and Appellant of the three older ones. Appellee's and Appellant's visitation of the children was restricted to arrangements made by the consent of both parties, two weeks in advance.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a more equitable property division with present value given to Appellant's retirement assets and the children's accounts not considered in the division of marital property, but considered to be held by Appellant as Trustee

thereof. Valuation of property, Appellant contends should be based on fair market value on date of separation, not of divorce. Attorney's fees incurred should be borne by each, not Appellant alone. Appellant also seeks the custody of all six children as children have a natural right to be raised together and Appellant's custody would be in their best interest. Appellant seeks a more reasonable visitation rights decree to allow for more flexibility and better opportunities for the children and the parents to get together. And finally, Appellant seeks to limit child support obligations to the children reaching eighteen.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties to this divorce were married in June, 1961. There were six children of this marriage: Terrell born September 1, 1962; Saesha born January 2, 1964; Alisa born December 31, 1964; Krista born May 18, 1970; Andra born November 15, 1971; and Chad born July 21, 1974. The father, Appellant here, is an Engineer presently employed by Utah State University with a present gross income of \$28,426 per year, not including outside earnings, which have been sporadic. Transcript at 7. The mother, Appellee, has worked as a registered nurse since 1961. She is presently employed by Logan Hospital, where she averages \$9,404 gross income per year, based on a three day work week. Transcript at 160. Her potential gross income as given in the record is \$15,000 per year. Transcript at 375.

Appellant and Appellee began having problems in their marriage as early as July of 1961. Transcript at 558. Finally, in 1974, the problems became more marked and they separated—physically and financially. Although the parties continued to live under the same roof, Appellee lived upstairs with the three younger children and Appellant lived downstairs with the three older ones. The younger children moved downstairs with Appellant during part of this time. The parties have kept their checking accounts separate since 1974 and have filed separate tax returns since 1975. Transcript at 169. During this four year period, Appellant provided for the household expenses while Appellee spent most of her money on tithing, presents and other personal needs. Transcript at 172.

During the summer of 1978, the younger children began living downstairs on a regular basis. Transcript at 290. The result of the change in living pattern was that Appellant assumed many of the so called "homemaker" duties. Transcript at 273, 280. Appellee, during this same period, was involved less and less in family activities, withdrawing to her room at times. Deposition of Margaret Fletcher at 27.

The marriage relationship declined steadily, though the couple made several attempts through counseling to reconcile. Two years prior to this action, Appellee filed for divorce,

but failed to pursue it when the older children told her they would go with Appellant. Finally, in May of 1978, Appellee filed for divorce and Appellant cross-claimed for such also. The case was tried to Judge Ted Perry a recently appointed circuit court judge who acted as pro tem. Judge in the absence of Judge VeNoy Christoffersen. He granted the divorce to Appellee alone although both parties requested a divorce and presented evidence in support of that claim. Judge Perry deemed both parties to be fit parents for the custody of the children. His memorandum decision then devoted great length to the discussion of which parent was the most honest, had the highest standard of morality, courtesy, obedience to law and the constitution, respect, dignity of honest labor, unselfishness, financial and educational advantages of each parent, and best communication with the children. The Judge found against the Appellant as to the first seven virtues and in favor of him as to the last two.

Notwithstanding these findings, acting Judge Perry awarded custody of the three older children to Appellant and the three younger ones to Appellee. The Judge noted this was directly in opposition to the testimony of the Social Services counselor who recommended all six children stay with the Appellant. Record at 120,121. Mr. Wangerin, the counselor, was involved in the case at the request of the court; and had spent many hours with the family members as a unit and separately.

The trial court granted what it called "reasonable visitation rights", but restricted them to arrangements made two weeks in advance by the mutual consent of both parties.

Record at 121. No standard was provided for counseling to assist the children, especially the three older ones, in establishing their relationship with their mother and reuniting as a family.

Appellant was ordered to pay child support until each child in Appellee's custody reaches the age of nineteen.

The property division contained in the same judgment gave full future value to Appellant's retirement pension. It considered the SNI fund and other stock, purchased for the children as their education funds, to be part of the husband's assets. Valuation of the Mendon home gave the equity as \$6,500, though \$5,000 of this was earned by Appellant and put on the home subsequent to the divorce being filed. The judge considered the division to be equal, but considered only the gross assets in valuing the marital estate.

He awarded \$31,232 worth of assets to Appellee, and \$63,126 worth of assets to Appellant. Judge Perry ordered Appellant to pay \$48,600 to Appellee over the next 162 months and to assume the mortgages on two properties of \$76,813, court costs, attorney's fees of over \$12,600 and other debts. Record at 83. Transcript at 700. The result of this property division was that Appellee had \$79,832 worth of assets with the mortgage on the River Heights home of \$29,208 while Appellant had \$63,126 worth of assets and \$138,013 worth of liabilities. The net worth of Appellee was thus \$50,623 while Appellant's net worth was (-)\$74,887. Record at 122-23.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. IT WAS IMPROPER FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO CONSIDER THE CHILDREN'S SNI FUNDS AND OTHER STOCKS AS PART OF THE MARITAL PROPERTY SUBJECT TO DIVISION.

In the divorce property settlement, pro tempore Judge Perry considered the \$6,000.00 worth of SNI funds and other stocks to be Appellant's property, and split its value between Appellant and Appellee. This was improper. As Mr. Fletcher stated, these investments were really purchased for the children and it was so acknowledged by the parties. They were left in his name because the children were minors. He also indicated he would have no objection to the court ordering that such funds be paid to the children. Transcript at 42,43. Two thousand dollars is Terrell's mission and education fund; two thousand is Saesha's education fund; and two thousand is Alisa's education fund. Because the money is in these investments for the children, it is not really marital property that can be subject to division on divorce.

Bates v. Bates 17 Or. App. 641, 523 P.2d 579 (1974) was a case on this issue. The trial court had awarded the wife a certain savings account balance and considered this as part of her property award. The appellate court modified this holding because both parties had testified "that this account had been established to be used for their children's college educations. The wife here argues that in light of this fact she is, in effect, holding this account as trustee and it should not be considered as awarded to her for purposes of examining the division of the parties' property. The decree should be modified to reflect the position the wife now takes. Id. at 580-81.

So too in the case at bar, Appellant should be considered to be trustee of his children's stocks in the same way that Mrs. Bates was determined to be trustee of her children's savings accounts. And because the Appellant's interest in the stocks is limited to management responsibilities, the \$6,000 the trial court attributed to his assets should be disregarded and the property division adjusted to reflect that change.

POINT II. IN DIVIDING THE RETIREMENT PENSION OF APPELLANT, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ASCRIBING FULL VALUE THERETO WHERE THERE WAS OVER A TWENTY YEAR EXPECTED TIME PERIOD BEFORE APPELLANT WOULD RECEIVE ANY BENEFITS THEREUNDER.

The best statement as to valuation of pension rights was given in Copeland v. Copeland, 91 N.M. 409, 575 P.2d 99 (1978). The husbands' rights to the benefits were clearly "vested", that is, he would receive them whether or not he remained in the same employment. However, his right had not yet "matured". He had not yet reached retirement age and therefore was not qualified to withdraw the money. Because of this latter contingency, the court ruled that only the present value of the husbands' pension should be considered as part of the marital property. Such should be based on the "length of time remaining before eligibility matures" . . . and . . . the present value of the husband's retirement pay based on his life expectancy and discounted for present value." Id. at 103.

The other alternative outlined by the court would be to pay the ex-wife "as the benefits are paid". Id. This

latter alternative would be primarily used when the community asset did not have sufficient other assets to pay the expense the present value of the pension fund.

The trial courts use of the future value of Appellant's pension from Utah State University was erroneous. It was not presently worth \$16,939. That is its future value. The more equitable distribution takes into account the present value of such interest. Clark England, manager of employee benefits at Utah State University, testified, that Appellant could not take out the retirement money prior to his retirement if he continued working at U.S.U. And if he were to quit working there, he would be restricted to receiving the money in a small monthly sum for the rest of his life. Transcript at 134-35. At the time of the divorce decree, Appellant was 40 years old, leaving 25 years before he would reach 65 and begin to draw on this money. The life expectancy of a 40 year old man is 42 years, or in other words, he would be projected to reach 82 years of age. These two factors should be taken into account in discounting the retirement fund to its present value. This determination as to retirement pension would reduce the total amount of property attributed to Appellant. This change should, in turn, result in a small property settlement to the Appellee. Since there is no evidence in the record reflecting the present value of Appellant's retirement asset, the other alternative of paying half of the presented "vested" benefits could be used. In other words, half his retirement benefits up to \$8,469.50 would be paid to Appellee as it is received by Appellant upon his retirement.

POINT III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DIVIDING THE MARITAL PROPERTY SINCE THEY FAILED TO PROPERLY TAKE INTO ACCOUNT APPELLEE'S EDUCATION AND POTENTIAL INCOME, THE SOURCE OF THE MARITAL PROPERTIES AND THE CONTRIBUTIONS OF EACH, SUPPORT OBLIGATIONS RELATIVE TO THE CHILDREN, AND TO CONSIDER INDEBTEDNESS AS WELL AS ASSETS IN MAKING THE PROPERTY DIVISION.

A. Appellee's education; present and potential income.

In making a property settlement in a divorce decree, the factors determined by the courts to be the general rule of thumb are: "the financial condition of the parties . . . the husband's income, his earning capacity, his health and ability to labor and the wife's age, health, station and ability to earn a living" Ellett v. Ellett, 573 P.2d 1179, 1182 (Nev. 1978) This test has been used in Utah as early as 1937 in Pinion v. Pinion , 92 Utah 255, 67 P.2d 265 (1937).

As stated on the trial record, Appellee's present income is \$9,404 per year. Testimony also indicated her potential income would be approximately \$15,000 per year. Transcript at 375.

Appellee is not in a helpless situation. She is a fully trained nurse, capable, and in fact, presently engaged in professional gainful employment and has been since 1961. There is not the disparity in education and employability as might otherwise be inferred from the Memorandum Decision of Judge Perry. He said "in reaching its decision the Court recognizes that in the society of the 1960s and 1970s it is not uncommon for a woman to work to support the family while the man furthers his education. Sometimes the result of such disparity of educational opportunities is that when the

man reaches his educational goals he no longer finds he has a wife with whom he can communicate because she has failed to maintain equality with him in educational pursuits" Record at 107. The rationale expressed by the acting judge indicates his attitude toward women as a generally deprived sex in need of the court's protection and preference. Under the Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment, while a court need not be blind to a person's sex, neither is there to be a bias or preference towards one or the other. This especially true where the evidence of the lower court did not support Judge Perry's discourse on the subservience of Appellee with regard to education and employability.

The trial court judge awarded Appellee a far greater award than was equitable under the circumstances. Judge Perry failed to take into account the tax implications of his decree. Although Appellant was ordered to pay \$1,800 a year child support for each of the three children in Appellee's custody, he receives only a \$1,000 tax deduction for such payment. So Appellant's \$5,400 child custody obligation results in only a \$3,000 deduction to him, but the \$5,400 payments are untaxed income to Appellee. She is able to receive the full value of the money.

Another disparity is that the \$9,000 per year support obligation of Appellant comes from his net income. Since he is in a 33% tax bracket, the real decrease in income is figured by dividing the \$9,000 by .67. The result is a \$13,432.84 reduction in Appellant's gross salary of \$28,426. His gross salary after support is only \$14,993.16.

Reflecting this decrease is Appellee's increase in salary. Her full-time salary would yield over \$15,000. Add to this the untaxed child support payments of \$5,400, divided by .7 since she is in the 30% tax bracket. The real increase in salary Appellee receives is \$15,000 + \$7,714 or \$22,714. She thus receives over \$7,000 more per year than Appellant in true salary. This result is even more disparate when the court considers all the indebtedness that the Appellant was burdened with by the trial court.

Both of the parties have three children to care for. Both must bear the expenses of maintaining a separate household. Both Appellant and Appellee are employed as professionals. Neither have need to be financially dependent on the other. The property settlement should be apportioned more equitably according to this and the other factors mentioned hereafter.

B. Source and contributions of each.

The trial court determined \$94,358 to be joint assets of the marriage. Record at 128. However, in making this judgment Judge Perry failed to properly take into account the source of such and give proper deference to Appellant's interest therein. For instance, of the \$5,000 gun collection attributed to the joint estate, \$4,000 was a gift to Appellant from his father. Transcript at 152. In addition, Appellant invested \$17,160 which he had inherited from his Aunt and Uncle to pay for remodeling of the parties' River Heights home. Transcript at 81.

In DuBois v. DuBois, 29 Utah 2d 75, 504 P.2d 1380 (1973) the greater part of the marital estate was composed of gifts from the wife's relative. The trial court gave sixty percent of the marital property to the wife, and the Utah Supreme Court held that such was not an abuse of discretion. The Court determined that the lower court had based its decision in part on the "source of the assets which comprised the marital estate." Id. at 1381.

This consideration as to the source of the marital property should be applied to the case at bar. Both parties to this action had steady incomes, both had money to invest. The fact that Appellant used part of his salary and inheritance to acquire and remodel certain fixed assets should be given proper deference in the division of the marital estate. It would be more equitable to give Appellant a greater share or interest in those assets which his independent funds have acquired, than to split them 50/50. Since the Appellant acquired all the assets subject to division by the court, with the exception of Appellee's car, the property would be apportioned more justly by awarding the majority of the assets to Appellant. For four years, Appellee has had the unrestricted use of her income for her own personal needs and now much like the proverbial ant and grasshopper, wishes to be given one-half of the full value of the assets.

C. Support obligations relative to the Children.

The Appellant and the Appellee were each awarded custody of three of their six children. Appellant is to support and

provide for the three teenagers in his care as well as the three younger children Appellee has. Raising children has become more and more costly over the years, with teenagers at the top of the list. Because of the substantial expenses thus shouldered by Appellant, Appellee's abilities and income should not have been dismissed so lightly. Appellee has substantial financial capabilities, and this factor should not have been overlooked by the trial court. If the court really intended to "equalize" the burden of assets and expenses for the two parties, they should have allowed Appellant significantly more income with which to support the teenagers, and allowed more of the financial burden of those children in Appellee's care to be borne by her.

D. Assets-Liabilities=Marital Community.

The trial court purported to divide the marital property equally, and although the theory was a fair one, the actual practice was not. Judge Perry apportioned the assets but left all the debts and obligations of the marital estate to be paid by Appellant. This resulted in an inequitable burden on Appellant. The ruling of the lower court should be reversed as to this result.

In Ray v. Ray, 11 Or. App. 246, 502 P.2d 397 (1972), the appellate court remanded a property settlement in a divorce case because of the inequitable division. The instructions given to the lower court were that it "could properly consider the indebtedness, as well as the assets, of the parties in determining the property division. Id. at 399.

This same holding was given in the Washington case of Anderson v. Anderson, 31 Wash. 2d 197, 195 P.2d 986 (1948). That court considered the total assets of the community to be \$52,562.83. The total obligations were \$19,417.06, leaving a net market value of \$33,145.77. The wife was given only \$10,000.00 of this, with the husband receiving the larger portion. The court's rationale for this distribution was "that respondent must pay all of the obligations of the community In addition to this, he must pay \$900.00 a year for the support of his children, . . . added to these facts, the evidence shows there is much competition in the business in which respondent is now engaged, and he may not be able to make a profit each year." Id. at 987-88.

Division of the net marital property would make a much more equitable result. It would consider not only the joint assets but also the joint liabilities of the marital community and apportion both so that the debts are paid for and assets equalized thereafter. The trial courts division of the marital property was as follows: To Appellee \$31,232 worth of assets, \$48,600 in alimony; \$29,208 mortgage on the River Heights home; resulting in the total of \$50,624 net value awarded to Appellee. Appellant was awarded \$63,126 worth of assets, but required to pay the \$48,600 alimony, court costs, attorney's fees of over \$12,600, mortgage debts on marital property amounting to \$76,813, as well as other debts. Record at 83. This made the net value awarded to Appellant a \$74,887 debt, while Appellee's net value was \$50,624 in assets. Record at 122-23.

The more equitable division would take into consideration not only the \$94,358 worth of marital assets; but also the \$113,621 worth of marital debts and apportion the two pro rata.

POINT IV. VALUATION OF THE MENDON HOME SHOULD HAVE BEEN BASED ON THE DATE THE DIVORCE WAS FILED RATHER THAN THE DATE OF THE DIVORCE DECREE.

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