1979

Margaret Fletcher v. William I. Fletcher : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CAREFULLY CONSIDERED AWARDS AND ORDERS OF THE TRIAL COURT ARE PRESUMED PROPER AND SHOULD NOT BE MODIFIED ABSENT A CLEAR SHOWING BY THE APPELLANT THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED HIS DISCRETION OR WAS MISTAKEN AS TO THE APPLICABLE LAW.

It is apparent from appellant's brief that Mr. Fletcher is not pleased with Judge Perry's distribution of the parties' property, custody award, and collateral orders. However, the fact that one of the parties to a divorce proceeding is dissatisfied with the trial court's rulings is not indicative either of the propriety or of the merit of those rulings; nor are such remonstrances unusual in the aftermath of the inherently emotional and psychologically traumatic divorce process. Being dissatisfied with the outcome of the trial and hearings held over a total of a full week before Judge Perry, Mr. Fletcher now seeks to commence anew these proceedings.

This Court has on innumerable occasions held that while a divorce action is equitable in nature, the ruling of the trial judge is favored with a presumption of propriety and accuracy. It is only in those few instances in which the appellant can clearly demonstrate a manifest abuse of discretion or misapplication of law that the decree fashioned by the trial judge will be disturbed. Such a position is logically grounded upon the advantaged position of the trial court, who has observed the witnesses, heard the testimony, and become acquainted at least to a limited degree with the parties, their problems, and their properties.

In a tacit recognition of the fact that the Findings of Fact entered by Judge Perry are supported by sufficient credible evidence, Mr. Fletcher relies upon the equitable nature of divorce proceedings in his invitation to this Court to revamp the original decree. A similar invitation was refused in Eastman v. Eastman, 558 P.2d 514 (Utah 1976), with the observation that:

We have many times stated that even though proceedings in divorce cases are equitable, in which this Court may review the evidence, due to the prerogatives and advantaged position of the trial court, we give considerable deference to his findings and judgment; and we do not disturb them unless the evidence clearly preponderates to the contrary, or he has abused his discretion, or misapplied principles of law.

558 P.2d at 516 (footnote citations omitted). It is, therefore, incumbent upon the appellant in a divorce case to demonstrate some clear abuse of discretion or misapplication of law before this Court will act to revise any aspect of the original decree.

This Court has long held that its inherent power to supplant the trial judge's discretion is to be exercised only judiciously and infrequently. For example, in Wilson v. Wilson, 5 Utah 2d 79, 296 P.2d 977 (1956), it was held that:

The more recent pronouncements of this court, and the policy to which we adhere, are to the effect that the trial judge has considerable latitude of discretion in such matters and that his judgment should not be changed lightly, and in fact, not at all, unless it works such a manifest injustice or inequity as to indicate a clear abuse of discretion.

296 P.2d at 931 (footnote omitted).

In view of the amount of discretion accorded to the trial judge and this Court's requirement that a clear abuse of that discretion or misapplication of law be demonstrated as a condition precedent to any modification of the trial judge's ruling, the cases have frequently noted that the mere fact that a majority of the members of the reviewing court might, themselves, have reached a different plan of distribution or ruling than did the trial court, is insufficient to justify any modification of the original decree. This Court emphasized this principle in Christensen v. Christensen, 21 Utah 2d 263, 444 P.2d 511 (1968), noting:

Whether we as individual judges would or would not have arrived at the exact same formula as to what the most practical and just treatment of the economic aspects [sic] of this situation is not the question on this appeal. Even though it is the established rule that divorce cases being in equity, it is the duty of this court to review and weigh the evidence, it is equally

true that we have invariably recognized the advantaged position of the trial judge and given deference to his findings and judgment, declaring that they should not be upset unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them, or unless the decree works such an injustice that equity and good conscience demand that it be revised. An important consideration in this regard is "the elimination or minimizing of frictions or difficulties in the future"

444 P.2d at 512-13 (emphasis added, footnote omitted).

Since the plan of distribution and decree fashioned by the trial judge will be modified only if the result of a clearly demonstrated abuse of discretion or a manifest misapplication of relevant law, the burden is upon the party dissatisfied with the trial court's decision to demonstrate such error. The most recent of the many cases so holding is English v. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah 1977), in which the principles applicable to this appeal were concisely summarized by this Court:

The trial court, in a divorce action, has considerable latitude of discretion in adjusting financial and property interests. A party appealing therefrom has the burden to prove there was a misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error; or the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings; or such a serious inequity has resulted as to manifest a clear abuse of discretion.

565 P.2d at 410 (footnote citation omitted). Essentially

identical statements of this principle can be found in many other Utah cases, including Baker v. Baker, 551 P.2d 1263 (Utah 1976); Hansen v. Hansen, 537 P.2d 491 (Utah 1975); and Mitchell v. Mitchell, 527 P.2d 1359 (Utah 1974).

Under the standards of review traditionally applied by this Court, the plan of distribution, custody award, and collateral orders entered in this case are presumed valid and will be affirmed unless Mr. Fletcher has demonstrated that Judge Perry has so clearly abused his discretion as to result in substantial prejudice or has misapplied the relevant law of this state to such a degree that the decree entered is manifestly unfair and inequitable. Naylor v. Naylor, 563 P.2d 184 (Utah 1977); Spangler v. Spangler, 561 P.2d 1076 (Utah 1977); Pearson v. Pearson, 561 P.2d 1080 (Utah 1977); Iverson v. Iverson, 526 P.2d 1126 (Utah 1974); Carter v. Carter, 19 Utah 2d 183, 429 P.2d 35 (1967); Michelsen v. Michelsen, 14 Utah 2d 328, 383 P.2d 932 (1963).

II. APPELLANT HAS ENTIRELY FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF DEMONSTRATING SOME ABUSE OF DISCRETION OR MISAPPLICATION OF LAW; THEREFORE, THE ORIGINAL DECREE

SHOULD BE AFFIRMED IN ITS ENTIRETY.

Although appellant's brief makes clear Mr. Fletcher's subjective dissatisfaction with the decree and award entered by Judge Perry, it wholly fails to delineate a single instance in which the trial judge either abused his discretion or misapplied the relevant law of this state. Under the sub-headings which follow, respondent will reply to the Points raised by Mr. Fletcher.

A. Mr. Fletcher's retirement fund was properly and reasonably valued by the trial court. Mr. Fletcher charges in his brief that Judge Perry "gave full future value to Appellant's retirement pension." App. Br. at 5. Such an assertion is entirely without merit. Judge Perry's Memorandum Decision, Findings of Fact, and Decree each placed a value of \$16,939 upon Mr. Fletcher's Utah State University retirement fund. R. at 106; 123; 128.

Clark England, manager of employee benefits at Utah State University, was called by Mr. Fletcher to testify concerning Mr. Fletcher's USU benefits, specifically including this retirement fund. Tr. at 128-40. It was Mr. England's testimony that, as of December 31, 1977, the vested value of Mr. Fletcher's retirement fund account was \$16,939.14. Tr. at 133. Accordingly, the value ascribed to this fund by Judge Perry not only is

not the "full future value" but is, instead, limited to the present value which the fund had some twelve months prior to the trial. The actual present value of the fund at the time of the divorce would have been, if anything, more than the value set by Judge Perry. Any inaccuracy in Judge Perry's figures, therefore, would benefit Mr. Fletcher, not the respondent.

Appellant sites the New Mexico case of Copeland v. Copeland, 91 N.M. 409, 575 P.2d 99 (1978), as being the "best statement as to valuation of pension rights" available. App. Br. at 7. This case, like more than half of the cases cited by Mr. Fletcher, is the decision not only of a foreign jurisdiction, but of a community property state. Such cases are of dubious applicability and of little persuasion in this action. Nevertheless, the Copeland case does not support Mr. Fletcher's assertion that Judge Perry's valuation of his vested USU retirement fund was inappropriate. The method suggested by the New Mexico Supreme Court in Copeland, is that "a determination should be made . . . of the present value of the husband's retirement pay based upon his life expectancy and discounted for present value. This is generally done on the basis of actuarial

tables." 575 P.2d at 103. In other words, a determination would be made as to the anticipated total amount of benefits to be paid to the husband during his lifetime as a result of contributions made to the fund during the marriage. The total of these future payments is then reduced to present value. Such a process would, at current interest rates, result in a larger figure than the method utilized by Judge Perry--the simpler process of taking the current present value of the husband's vested interest. The actual future value of Mr. Fletcher's vested \$16,939 interest, at an interest rate of 12 percent over the 25 year period noted in his brief, is \$287,964.09; and, even at 8 percent over that period, the actual future value is in excess of \$116,000.

Mr. Fletcher's assertion that the trial judge utilized a future value figure in evaluating his USU retirement fund is clearly erroneous. It may be, nevertheless, that what Mr. Fletcher is really concerned about is the mere inclusion of his retirement fund, the ultimate benefit of which he may not realize until his retirement. The propriety of the consideration of such a retirement fund as part of the assets available for distribution was upheld by this Court in Ehninger v. Ehninger,

569 P.2d 1104 (Utah 1977). In that case, the dissatisfied husband contended that "the trial court erred in placing a value upon and making a division of . . . the defendant's profit-sharing plan, the purpose of which [was] for his retirement" and the benefit of which would be available to him only upon retirement.

569 P.2d at 1104. This Court held that the inclusion of the husband's vested, but not immediately available, interest in his retirement fund was appropriate. 569 P.2d at 1106.

Moreover, this Court recently upheld a property distribution which considered as a family asset the husband's accrued interest in a retirement fund. In Englert v. Englert, 576 P.2d 1274 (Utah 1978), it was noted that the husband contended that

his retirement fund is not "property" within the meaning of our statutes and should not be so considered in determining the rights of the parties under the divorce decree. He reasons that because that fund was accumulated as a result of his service and tenure, it is inequitable to permit [his wife] to participate therein.

576 P.2d at 1275. The husband's contentions were rejected and this Court approved the inclusion of the fund at its accrued value at the time of the trial--precisely the process utilized by Judge Perry in this case.

Contrary to Mr. Fletcher's assertions, the trial judge did not utilize a "future" value in connection with his USU retirement fund; rather, the court, in accordance with procedure recently authorized by this Court, included the retirement fund at the value of Mr. Fletcher's interest therein at the time of the trial. Had Mr. Fletcher desired to present evidence sufficient to support some other basis upon which to calculate the value of this asset, he could have done so. It was, in fact, he who called Clark England to testify concerning the value of this asset. Having failed to produce testimony sufficient for an alternate valuation of this asset, Mr. Fletcher is not now in a position to complain. Such was the holding of this Court in English v. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah 1977), in response to the contention on appeal that the trial court had failed to discount the value of notes receivable by the husband in computing the property distribution. It was held:

The record does not indicate defendant brought this matter to the attention of the trial court prior to its determination: the claim is now untimely.

565 P.2d at 410. Likewise in this case, having failed to present testimony upon which an alternate valuation could be based, Mr. Fletcher's claims in regard to the

valuation of his pension plan are not only ill-founded but also untimely.

B. The property distribution fashioned by the trial court is fair and should be affirmed. Appellant's brief contends that Mrs. Fletcher could earn approximately \$15,000 per year if she would seek daily employment. This contention entirely ignores the fact that, under Judge Perry's custody award, she will have the responsibility for the rearing of three young children, five, seven and nine years of age. The difficulties created by forcing a single parent with three young children to work full time or more, when coupled with the fact that during her marriage Mrs. Fletcher has not been required to work full time, is a sufficient answer to this contention. It is not an appropriate function of the divorce court to force a woman to go to work full time after eighteen years of married life, particularly when there are three young children at home in need of her attention. None of the cases cited by Mr. Fletcher so holds.

Moreover, appellant's quotation of language from Judge Perry's Memorandum Decision (App. Br. at 9-10) is taken drastically out of context. The quoted language was intended by Judge Perry to constitute an

explanation of the difficulties encountered between the parties and has absolutely no relevance to Mr. Fletcher's present contention that his wife should engage in at least full time work. The statement that "[t]he rational [sic] expressed by the acting judge indicates his attitude toward women as a generally deprived sex in need of the court's protection and preferance" (App. Br. at 10) is a non-sequitur supported neither by the quoted language itself nor by the judge's ruling.

The assertion that "Judge Perry failed to take into account the tax implications of his decree" (Id.) is likewise unsupported. The mathematical razzle-dazzle attempted by appellant is mathematically incorrect (e.g., annual support is \$5400 not \$9000), overlooks elementary tax principles (e.g., alimony in this case is deductible), and wholly ignores the \$13,275 received annually by Mr. Fletcher as wages from his close corporation. Moreover, the comparison attempted between Mr. Fletcher's actual salary and Mrs. Fletcher's conjectural and hypothetical full-time salary--for some reason increased by taxes she would never have to pay--makes no sense whatsoever, and is as misleading and ill-founded as the statement that both Mr. Fletcher (a fully tenured associate professor and government

consultant in Electrical Engineering) and Mrs. Fletcher (a nurse) are both "employed as professionals."

Mr. Fletcher also contends that the decree is "unfair" in that it includes as family property subject to distribution a gun collection and certain improvements allegedly paid for with money inherited from his family. In support of this complaint DuBois v. DuBois, 29 Utah 2d 75, 504 P.2d 1380 (1973), is cited. That case fails to support Mr. Fletcher's position, and in fact underscores the propriety of Judge Perry's ruling. In DuBois, the parties had accumulated an estate in excess of \$500,000. "The greater part of the nucleus of this estate" had come from the wife's relatives. 504 P.2d at 1381. Notwithstanding that "the greater part" of this property had come from the wife's family by inheritance, this Court affirmed the trial judge's property distribution which transferred 40 percent of this inherited property to the husband. In this case, the inherited property of which Mr. Fletcher complains constitutes a much smaller proportion of the property of the parties and its distribution reflects no abuse of discretion.

Mr. Fletcher, who had earned income during the year immediately preceding the trial of this action

of over \$40,000, suggests that Mrs. Fletcher, who had earned income during that period of less than one-quarter that amount, should be responsible for the support of the three children whose custody was awarded to her. The mere statement of this proposition is sufficient argument against it.

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